No. 73614-1-1

IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DAVID A. KOHLES, INC. P.S., Petitioner/Appellant,

٧.

MICHAEL COOK, individually; DONNA COOK, individually; and the marital community composed of MICHAEL COOK and DONNA COOK; AND IN REM AGAINST ANY ALL PAYMENTS RECEIVED BY MICHAEL COOK AND DONNA COOK FROM THE DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND INDUSTRIES ON ACCOUNT OF WORKER'S COMPENSATION BENEFITS, et al., Respondents/Appellee.

ON REVIEW FROM THE COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I

PETITION FOR REVIEW

SCHWEET LINDE & COULSON, PLLC Laurin S. Schweet, WSBA #16431 Binah B. Yeung, WSBA #44065 575 S. Michigan St. Seattle WA 98108 206-275-1010

III. INTRODUCTION

A. Identity of Petitioner

The Petitioner is David A. Kohles P.S., Inc. and its principal David A. Kohles ("Petitioner" or "Kohles"), a workers compensation attorney serving clients in the Puget Sound area. Kohles is the Plaintiff and Appellant below.

B. Court of Appeals Decision

Petitioner seeks review of the Court of Appeals, Division I's unpublished opinion, filed on February 29, 2016, affirming the decision by Snohomish County Superior Court Judge Ellen J. Fair denying his motion for summary judgment, which sought to foreclose his already-established attorney's lien. A copy of the decision is included in the Appendix at pages A-1 through A-7.

C. Issues Presented for Review

This appeal presents the following issues:

- 1. Is an issue of substantial public interest presented where the Court of Appeals affirms a decision holding that an attorney's lien on the proceeds of the action may not be foreclosed upon?
- 2. Is the Court of Appeals opinion in conflict with existing case law when it holds that the trial court has discretion to reduce the portion of the lien to be enforced, when no published or unpublished opinion in the State of Washington has found that such discretion exists?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner David A. Kohles was retained by the Respondent/Appellee Donna Cook's ("Respondent" or "Donna Cook") now-deceased husband, Michael Cook¹, to pursue workers compensation benefits for injuries he suffered as an employee of Snohomish County (the "County"). CP 77, ¶ 4. Kohles was retained pursuant to a written contingency fee agreement ("Fee Agreement"), which provided for fees to be calculated based on a percentage of the dollar amount of certain categories of benefits that were recovered. CP 77–78, ¶¶ 7–9, CP 86–87.

A. Kohles obtains a large settlement award for Michael Cook on his workers compensation claim.

Kohles worked hard on Michael Cook's case and never took a fee until after many years, when he succeeded in recovering a significant award from the County and the Department of Labor and Industries ("DLI"). See, CP 68; CP 78, ¶ 11. This award consisted of various components. CP 78, ¶ 11.

One component was monthly payments ("Monthly DLI Payments") sent to Michael Cook by the DLI on account of his permanent total disability ("PTD") claim. CP 78, ¶ 9, CP 79, ¶ 14, 88–92. For a short time, the Monthly DLI Payments were sent to Kohles' office. CP 79, ¶ 14, CP 94. Kohles would deduct an agreed-upon portion and apply it towards the fees owed under the Fee Agreement. CP 79, ¶ 14. The remainder of the payment would then be forwarded to Michael Cook. CP 79, ¶ 14.

¹ Hereinafter, Michael and Donna Cook are collectively referred to as the "Cooks."

B. The Cooks stop paying Kohles' earned fee under the Fee Agreement and file bankruptcy.

Shortly after Kohles succeeded in obtaining the award for Michael Cook, the Cooks terminated Kohles' services and notified DLI of a change of the address to which the payments were sent, preventing Kohles from being paid any further fees. CP 79, ¶ 15.

Thereafter, the Cooks filed a petition for Chapter 7 Bankruptcy in the Western District of Washington (the "Bankruptcy"). CP 80, ¶ 20. The Bankruptcy discharged the Cooks of personal liability for the fees owed to Kohles. CP 80, ¶ 21.

C. The bankruptcy court finds that Kohles has a valid attorney's lien on the Monthly DLI Payments securing his contingent fee.

Pursuant to RCW 60.40.010(1)(d), an attorney's lien automatically arose by operation of law when Kohles began pursuing Michael Cook's claims against the County. *See*, RCW 60.40.010(1)(d). Kohles filed an adversary case in the Cooks' bankruptcy to adjudicate and preserve these lien rights. CP 80, ¶ 18.

On December 13, 2015, upon Kohles' motion for summary judgment, the bankruptcy court entered an order holding that Petitioner had a "valid and perfected lien created by RCW 60.40.010(1)(d) which secures the contingency fee which he is owed under the Fee Agreement entered into between Plaintiff and Michael Cook" (the "Bankruptcy Order"). CP 80, ¶ 22, CP 110. The Bankruptcy Order further provided "that such lien attaches to all past and future payments made by the Washington Department of Labor and Industries and/or Snohomish

County to Michael Cook and/or Donna Cook on account of any work performed by David A. Kohles including Kohles' representation of Michael Cook in any claim or appeal process." CP 110.

The Cooks were represented by legal counsel in both the bankruptcy and the adversary proceeding. CP 13, ¶ R.

D. Donna Cook receives the Monthly DLI Payments as a survivor benefit, and Kohles moves for foreclosure of his lien.

Following closure of the Bankruptcy, Michael Cook died of causes unrelated to his injury. CP 81, ¶ 23. Respondent Donna Cook continued to receive the Monthly DLI Payment on account of the PTD claim as his survivor. CP 81, ¶ 27, CP 38. It was later revealed that the monthly benefits she receives are approximately \$3,175.08 per month. CP 38.

On June 27, 2014, Kohles filed an *in rem* complaint in Snohomish County Superior Court against the above-named Respondents. CP 133–141. The complaint sought foreclosure of Kohles' attorney's lien on the Monthly DLI Payments and other injunctive relief necessary to enforce the lien. CP 139.

On February 9, 2015, Kohles filed a Motion for Summary Judgment ("Motion"). CP 122–131. Donna Cook filed a response and appeared at the first hearing held on March 10, 2014. See, CP 11. At Donna Cook's request, the trial court granted a continuance of the hearing. Donna Cook made further submissions to the trial court and on April 10, 2014, the parties attended the continued hearing. See, CP 11.

E. The trial court denies Kohles' motion for summary judgment and declines to enforce the lien as a matter of law even though there were no issues of material fact.

After considering the submissions by both sides, the trial court entered an Order Denying Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment ("Order"). CP 10–15. The Order contained detailed findings of fact, including a finding that there was a valid contingent fee agreement (CP 10, ¶ A–E), that Kohles had not been paid all of the fees owed under the Fee Agreement (CP 12, ¶ J), that Donna Cook continued to receive the benefits in the amount of \$3,175.08 per month (CP 12, ¶ M), that these benefits were the result of Kohles' efforts on behalf of Michael Cook (CP 12, ¶ O), and that Kohles had an attorney's lien on these funds pursuant to RCW 60.40.010 (CP 14, ¶ E).

Notwithstanding these findings, the trial court concluded that:

Plaintiff's request for judgment in rem against the Settlement proceeds is denied on grounds that RCW 60.40. et. seq., though it provides for an attorney's lien under the facts of this case, such statute does not provide a process or mechanism for foreclosure of such personal property lien, and the Court is unaware of such procedure for doing so.

CP 14, ¶ J.

In addition, the trial court ruled that Kohles was not entitled to prejudgment interest on his claim because the Fee Agreement did not contain a provision for interest. CP 14, ¶ I. The trial court further concluded that "Donna Cook's budget and financial declaration is relevant to the instant motion." CP 14, ¶ K. Then, acting in "equity," the trial court ordered that Donna Cook remit payments of \$100 per month to Kohles on

account of his lien on the Monthly DLI Payments. CP 14, \P L, CP 15, \P 2. The trial court's order in essence started a 32-year payment schedule for benefits that would end when Donna Cook passes away.

Petitioner timely filed a motion for reconsideration, which was denied without opinion. CP 2, CP 1. On June 19, 2015, Petitioner filed a notice of appeal with the Court of Appeals, Division I, seeking review of the Order and the order denying reconsideration of the Order.²

F. The Court of Appeals affirms the Trial Court's decision denying foreclosure of the attorney's lien.

The Court of Appeals considered briefing for both parties and without oral argument, filed an opinion ("Opinion") on February 29, 2016 affirming the trial court. App. 1–7. The Opinion stated that "[N]otwithstanding its conclusion that the statute does not provide a process for foreclosure, the trial court engaged in an equitable proceeding to *enforce* his attorney's lien." App. 5. The Court of Appeals ultimately concluded that based on *King County v. Seawest Inv. Assocs., LLC*, 141 Wn. App. 304, 314, 170 P.3d 53 (2007), the trial court had discretion to "enforce," as opposed to foreclose, the attorney's lien by: (1) ordering Donna Cook to pay an amount that would never pay off the lien in its entirety in her or Petitioner's lifetime; (2) denying prejudgment interest on the contingent fee even though the amount was a liquidated sum; and (3)

² On July 22, 2015, Petitioner received correspondence from the Court of Appeals requesting briefing on the reviewability of the notice of appeal. Petitioner filed its briefing on same and review was granted without oral argument.

considering Donna Cook's financial situation, despite its irrelevance to the lien foreclosure. App. 6–7. The Opinion, citing *King County v. Seawest Inv. Assocs., LLC*, 141 Wn. App. 304, 170 P.3d 53 (2007), held that because foreclosure of an attorney's lien is an equitable proceeding, the trial court's decision was subject to review for abuse of discretion. Notwithstanding the fact that the trial court's decision was unsupported by any Washington case law, the Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court, finding that it acted within its discretion in ordering the above remedy.

V. ARGUMENT

RAP 13.4(b) provides four grounds for acceptance of review by the Supreme Court, including:

- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- . .
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

RAP 13.4(b). The issues raised by this appeal are a matter of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court because the enforceability of attorney's liens implicates access to justice issues that affect many would-be claimants. Furthermore, the Opinion is in conflict with *King County v. Seawest Inv. Assocs., LLC*, 141 Wn. App. 304, 170 P.3d 53 (2007) and existing Washington case law on attorney's liens because it permits the trial court to exercise discretion as to the amount of an established lien that it chooses to enforce, whereas *Seawest* and other

cases only permit the trial court to exercise discretion as to the proper procedure for adjudication of the lien. For these reasons, the Supreme Court should accept review of this matter.

A. An issue of substantial public interest is presented because the Opinion impacts the availability of contingent fee representation to would-be claimants.

The ability to fairly adjudicate and foreclose an attorney's lien securing a contingent fee, especially in a workers compensation case such as here, is a matter of substantial public interest. As discussed below, enforceability of an attorney's lien directly impacts many would-be claimants' access to justice. Furthermore, the issue of attorney's lien foreclosure is in dire need of review by the Supreme Court because of the paucity of guidance from the statute and the lack of recent Supreme Court opinions on the issue.

Society benefits when attorney's liens are enforced in contingent fee cases, such as the one at hand. Because contingent fee arrangements provide increased access to justice, it is crucial that such agreements are honored and enforced by the courts through enforcement of liens. Otherwise, there would be little to no incentive for attorneys to handle cases on a contingent basis, resulting in loss of representation to many.

Under a contingency fee arrangement, a lawyer will take a case without any money up front.³ In return, the lawyer is entitled to a

³ Facts About Lawyers' Income and Fees, Center for Justice and Democracy at New York Law School (July 2012), available at

percentage of the amount of money collected if the case is successful – usually one-third. *Id.* If the victim does not prevail, the attorney receives no fee at all. *Id.*

Many of the claimants represented by attorneys like Petitioner would not be able to pursue their claims on an hourly basis. In exchange for the contingent fee, the attorney takes on 100% of the financial risk in pursuing the case. When both parties perform their side of the agreement, everyone benefits. The client benefits from being able to pursue the case at no out-of-pocket expense, and also from the recovery if one is obtained. The attorney benefits from receiving compensation for his work proportionate to the outcome obtained. On the other hand, if there is no recovery, the attorney does not receive any compensation but the client has not suffered any additional losses.

The contingent fee system is an important component of access to justice in the American court system:

The contingency fee system provides injured consumers with access to the courts. Injured people may be in pain, unable to work or lack funds to pay next month's mortgage or rent, let alone an hourly attorney fee. [. . .] Without such a system, injured consumers could never find attorneys to fight insurance companies or take on large corporations and institutions, like the drug and tobacco industries. James Gattuso, then with the conservative Heritage Foundation, agreed in a 1986 Wall Street Journal piece, stating that the contingency fee system "acts to provide the

http://centerjd.org/system/files/Factsaboutlawyers2012.pdf (hereinafter "Facts About Lawyers Income and Fees").

services of attorneys to injured people who may not be able to otherwise afford legal representation, at no cost to the taxpayer."

Facts About Lawyers' Income and Fees, supra, at 3.

Despite its importance, the structure of contingent fee cases necessarily presents opportunities for abuse. This case is a typical example of the potential for unjust outcomes when an attorney agrees to represent a client on a contingent fee basis, and is later "discharged" once a recovery is obtained. The attorney's lien was created by the legislature to protect attorneys from such unjust results. The attorney is protected from losing his or her earned compensation by the lien upon "an action" and "its proceeds" under RCW 60.40.010. RCW 60.40.010 specifically refers to "special agreements," meaning contingent fee agreements.

The trial court below held that, "Plaintiff's request for judgment in rem against the Settlement proceeds is denied on grounds that RCW 60.40. et. seq., though it provides for an attorney's lien under the facts of this case, such statute does not provide a process or mechanism for foreclosure of such personal property lien, and the Court is unaware of such procedure for doing so." CP 14. The Court of Appeals affirmed this decision, with the ramification that a statutorily-created attorney's lien cannot be foreclosed.

Without foreclosure of liens under this provision, there would be no real protection for attorneys who perform work in these areas. Without protection for attorneys performing contingent fee work, there is no protection for would-be claimants' abilities to obtain legal representation where they would otherwise not be able to obtain or afford it. Thus, public policy dictates that these provisions be given effect. Attorney's liens must be capable of foreclosure if they are to have any benefit to attorneys and their would-be clients.

Rather than furthering this public policy, the Opinion renders attorney's liens and RCW 60.40 *et. seq.* practically useless. By affirming the trial court's decision, the Court of Appeals has endangered the availability of representation to many of those who need it most. "The law cannot allow the vacuum caused by the absence of a remedy in the statute to stand where there is a clear statutory right created." This statutory right was created to protect attorneys but it also has the effect of protecting the type of representation that they provide. The ability to foreclose an attorney's lien is therefore an issue of substantial public interest that requires review by this Court.

B. The Court of Appeals Opinion is in conflict with Seawest and existing case law because it holds that the trial court has discretion to determine what portion of an already-established attorney's lien to enforce.

In addition to being an issue of substantial public interest, the Opinion is in conflict with *King County v. Seawest Inv. Assocs., LLC*, 141 Wn. App. 304, 170 P.3d 53 (2007) and other existing cases with respect to the discretion a trial court has when foreclosing an attorneys lien.

⁴ Michael R. Caryl, *The Use and Misuse of Attorney Liens: The Law, Practicalities, and Best Practices with Attorney's Liens*, 7-15 (2014).

In King County v. Seawest Inv. Assocs ("Seawest"), the Court of Appeals held that the question of how to properly adjudicate an attorney's lien on a judgment was within the discretion of the trial court. The law firm in an eminent domain action filed and served a notice of attorney's claim of lien after a dispute arose with the client regarding compensation for legal services. Seawest hired law firm Graham & Dunn to represent it in an eminent domain proceeding brought by King County as the matter approached trial. Id., at 307. The matter went into a two-week trial after which the trial court awarded Seawest more than \$7.6 million as just compensation for the taking of its property. Id., at 308.

Shortly thereafter, a dispute arose between Seawest and Graham & Dunn over the firm's compensation for the legal services it provided. *Id.* Graham & Dunn filed and served a Notice of Attorney's Claim of Lien in the amount of \$324,956.68. *Id.* In response to Seawest's motion, the court entered an order for partial disbursement of the award to Seawest. *Id.* The order further directed that \$84,728.23 be disbursed to Graham & Dunn, which represented the unpaid balance for fees and costs that Seawest did not dispute. *Id.* The remaining \$240,228.45 in the registry was the amount subject to the dispute between Graham & Dunn and Seawest. *Id.*

Thereafter, the trial court that conducted the original eminent domain proceedings trial set an evidentiary hearing on the fees. *Id.* The court took testimony from a number of witnesses, admitted exhibits, and reviewed a deposition transcript admitted as part of the evidence. *Id.* The court held that Seawest and Graham & Dunn had entered into a binding

written fee agreement. *Id.* The court further determined that Graham & Dunn's fees were reasonable. *Id.* The court entered its order directing disbursement of the balance of the \$240,228.45 in the court registry to Graham & Dunn. *Id.*, at 309. Seawest appealed. *Id.*

On appeal, the Court of Appeals affirmed in all respects. The court found that the applicable attorney's lien statute was RCW 60.40.010 – the same as the one here. Specifically, the court addressed the issue of whether that section required a separate proceeding to adjudicate the attorney's lien, concluding that it did not. Furthermore, the court properly observed:

... [T]he current version of the statute does not set out a procedure for adjudicating a lien against a judgment. Although the 2004 amendments mention an action to enforce a lien on a judgment in RCW 60.40.010(2), the statute does not set out a procedure for enforcement. Significantly, the statute does not require that such an action be separate from the underlying proceeding. Thus, it places the question of how to properly adjudicate the lien with the court, requiring it to fashion some "form of proceeding by which the matters might be properly adjudicated." Cases since Angeles Brewing have cited this principle with approval. Thus, we conclude that the trial court here was authorized to fashion an appropriate remedy, which it did.

King Cnty. v. Seawest Inv. Associates, LLC, 141 Wn. App. at 315. The court then cited the procedural steps the trial court took, including ample time to conduct discovery and prepare for the evidentiary hearing, the opportunity to present evidence, bring counterclaims and argue their theories, and found that the procedure fashioned by the trial court fully

complied with due process. *Id.* Ultimately, the court affirmed the trial court's order for disbursing the attorney's fees and costs to Graham & Dunn as a result of their claim of lien, constituting foreclosure of its attorney's lien under RCW 60.40.010. *Id.* at 317.

Seawest does not support the position taken by the Court of Appeals. The trial court's discretion in that case was limited to: (1) determining the appropriate procedural steps for adjudication of the lien (i.e. determining its existence and validity); and (2) determining the reasonableness of the attorney's fees at issue. See, id., at 308. The trial court in Seawest, after finding that a valid lien existed and that the fees they secured were reasonable, ultimately ordered disbursement of the encumbered funds contained in the court registry to be paid to the attorney claimant. Id. at 309. The Court of Appeals affirmed, finding that the trial court's selected procedure for adjudicating the lien was within its discretion. Id., at 315.

There is no support in the *Seawest* opinion for the proposition that trial court had discretion to enforce only a portion of the adjudicated lien. Had the trial court conducted the same procedural steps, found that the attorney's fees were reasonable, but chose to order only \$100 of the court registry funds be disbursed to the attorney claimant for "equitable" reasons, the Court of Appeals opinion would have come out quite differently. Nothing in *Seawest* gives the trial court the option to enforce only a portion of an existing and valid lien. In fact, if the trial court had such discretion, there would be no need for proceedings to determine the

existence, validity, or amount of an attorney's lien as the court could simply pick an arbitrary amount for what it wanted to enforce.

The trial court in *Seawest* determined the existence, validity, and amount of the attorney lien at issue through an evidentiary hearing. *See*, *id.* at 315. Upon adjudicating the lien, the trial court in fact disbursed the funds in the court registry subject to the lien. *Id.*, at 309. It did not, and could not, exercise discretion as to how much of the encumbered funds it wanted to disburse. *Seawest* does not stand for the proposition that the trial court has the discretion to enforce any amount it desires – to the contrary, it only affirms that the trial court may select the appropriate procedure for determining the existence, validity, and amount of an attorney's lien.⁵ Once these facts are determined, the court does not have discretion to determine how much of the lien will be foreclosed, or in this case "enforced."

The trial court may not arbitrarily refuse to foreclose an existing and valid attorney's lien. The Court of Appeals has suggested this much in *Smith v. Moran, Windes & Wong, PLLC*, 145 Wn. App. 459, 187 P.3d 275, 280 (2008). In *Smith*, the Court of Appeals addressed the rights of

⁵ The Supreme Court has made similar holdings in *Price v. Chambers*, 148 Wash. 170, 172, 268 P. 143, 144 (1928) and *State v. Superior Court for King Cty.*, 89 Wash. 342, 345, 154 P. 603, 604 (1916), both cited by *Seawest* for holding that "[T]he court has a right to determine all questions affecting the judgment raised by parties properly before the court, in some form of proceeding by which the matters might be properly adjudicated." Neither of these cases give the trial court discretion to determine how much of an adjudicated lien it feels like foreclosing.

competing creditors to the settlement proceeds arising from a legal malpractice action under the lien statute. *Id.*, 461–62. Two judgment creditors of a plaintiff in a malpractice action purchased the plaintiff's malpractice claim at a sheriff's execution sale. *Id.* The claim was subject to an attorney's lien by the law firm that represented the plaintiff in the malpractice claim, but later withdrew when the judgment creditors intervened. *Id.* at 464. Subsequently, the judgment creditors and the defendant in the malpractice action reached a settlement, and the proceeds of that settlement were paid to the judgment creditors. *Id.* The law firm asserted an attorney's lien against these settlement proceeds. *Id.* At the request of the judgment creditors, the trial court invalidated the lien, and the law firm appealed. *Id.*

The Court of Appeals reversed on appeal, holding that the trial court erred in invalidating the attorney's lien asserted against the settlement proceeds. Applying the plain words of the statute to the undisputed facts of this case, the court concluded that an attorney's lien for compensation in favor of the law firm arose by operation of law upon the malpractice action and its proceeds. *Id.*, 466. The lien arose when the malpractice action was commenced, and attached to the action and any proceeds of the action, specifically the settlement funds. *Id.* The Court of Appeals remanded for further proceedings to establish the amount of the lien.

Petitioner notes that if the *Smith* lien were unenforceable, there would be no need for further proceedings. *Smith* properly recognized that

the lien created by RCW 60.40.010(1)(d) is an actual property right, and not just a fictional or nominal interest. Therefore, the *Smith* court properly found that the trial court did not have discretion to invalidate the lien. To the contrary, the Court of Appeals here has ruled that the trial court has discretion to essentially invalidate the majority of Petitioner's lien by refusing to foreclose it, and "enforcing" only a *de minimus* portion. The trial court did not have the discretion to do so under *Smith*, and the Opinion is therefore in conflict with existing case law.

In Petitioner's case, the existence, validity, and amount of the attorney's lien was already adjudicated. The only discretion remaining for the trial court to exercise was therefore how to foreclose the lien (i.e. to order the Respondent to change her address with DLI, etc.). The trial court did not have discretion to determine whether to foreclose the lien at all, or how much of the lien to enforce. By affirming the trial court, the Opinion condones abuse of discretion that the trial court did not have in the first place.⁶

⁶ In addition, the trial court abused its discretion by denying Petitioner prejudgment interest when the amount of the lien was liquidated, contrary to *Prier v. Refrigeration Eng'g Co.*, 74 Wn.2d 25, 32, 442 P.2d 621, 625 (1968). The trial court also did not have discretion to consider respondents personal financial situation, because it did not have discretion to determine whether to foreclose the lien in the first place. Petitioner raises and preserves these issues in this appeal and reserves its rights to further brief these matters if review is accepted by this Court.

In summary, Petitioner had a "valid and perfected lien created by RCW 60.40.010(1)(d) which secures the contingency fee which he is owed under the Fee Agreement entered into between Plaintiff and Michael Cook." CP 80, ¶ 22, CP 110. That lien "attache[d] to all past and future payments made by the Washington Department of Labor and Industries and/or Snohomish County to Michael Cook and/or Donna Cook on account of any work performed by David A. Kohles including Kohles' representation of Michael Cook in any claim or appeal process." CP 110. These lien rights were confirmed by the bankruptcy court, the trial court, and even the Court of Appeals. Under *Seawest* and *Smith*, the only remaining issue for determination by the trial court was therefore how to foreclose the lien — not how much of it to foreclose.

The Court of Appeals inexplicably found that despite these established lien rights, the trial court could order a remedy that failed to give Petitioner any meaningful recovery. Petitioner was unable to locate any published or unpublished opinion in Washington reaching a similar conclusion as that reached by the trial court and affirmed by the Court of Appeals. The trial court's position and the Opinion affirming the same is therefore in conflict with existing law and should be reviewed by the Supreme Court.

VI. CONCLUSION

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