SUPREME COURT NO. 92959-9

THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DAVID A. KOHLES, INC., P.S. Plaintiffs/Appellant

V.

MICHAEL COOK (now deceased) Individually; DONNA COOK, Individually; and the marital Community composed of MICHAEL COOK AND DONNA COOK; AND IN REM AGAINST ANY ALL PAYMENTSRECEIVED BY MICHAEL COOK ANDDONNA COOK FROM THE DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND INDUSTRIES ON ACCOUNT OF WORKER'SCOMPENSATION BENEFITS Defendants/Appellees

ON REVIEW FROM THE COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I

CASE NO. 73614-1-1

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

BRIEF OF RESPONDANT DONNA J. COOK, PRO SE

INTRODUCTION

I, Donna Cook, widow of Michael Cook am the Respondent/
Appellee in this case.

My husband, Michael Cook (Michael) was employed by Snohomish County. Michael hired David Kohles (Kohles) to represent him in dealings with Snohomish County's private insurance company, Eberle Vivian.

Michael had suffered two injuries while working for Snohomish County and was already receiving Workers" Compensation payments for both claims at the time he hired David Kohles.

Kohles has been seeking a motion for summary judgment against my pension based on a fee agreement Michael signed when he hired Kohles. I do not agree that Kohles had anything to do with Michael's "time loss" which eventually converted to a pension.

Snohomish County Superior Court Judge Ellen J. Fair reached an equitable proceeding whereby I make \$100 per month

payments to Kohles. I do not feel I owe Kohles any of Michael's pension, but just wanted the stress of fighting this case to be over, so I accepted her decision as something I could live with.

Kohles, on the other hand continues to try to get a summery judgment against me. He filed an appeal with Washington State Court of Appeals. They affirmed the decision of Snohomish County Superior Court.

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

I was happy to accept the equitable decision handed down by Judge Ellen J. Fair and affirmed by the Court of Appeals if it meant this case was finished, but I now believe Kohles will never let it be over.

RAP 13.4(d) Answer and Reply says in part:

'If the party wants to seek review of any issue that is not raised in the petition for review, including any issues that were raised but not decided in the Court of Appeals, the party must raise those new issues in an answer."

I would like to raise those issues here.

- 1. A closer look at the Fee Agreement signed by Michael.
- Footnote 3 from the Court of Appeals of the State of Washington, Division One Unpublished Opinion dated February 29, 2016.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Every brief filed on Kohles behalf in this case has the statement: "Petitioner David A. Kohles was retained by the Respondent/Appellee Donna Cook's now deceased husband, Michael Cook, to pursue workers' compensation benefits for injuries he suffered as an employee of Snohomish County."

I have responded every time that this statement is an outright lie. When Michael hired Kohles he had already established both claims and was receiving payments. Michael hired Kohles for the sole purpose of helping him deal with Snohomish County's private insurance company, Eberle Vivian.

Kohles did obtain a settlement for Michael in the amount of \$37,000 dollars. It was a settlement agreed to between Kohles and Snohomish County's attorney to drop an appeal for home health

care for Michael so that I could go back to work.

The settlement was made against Michael's wishes and explicit instructions. We had hearings scheduled for April 24, 2012 and May 4, 2012. When we spoke to Kohles on April 13, he assured us that we would be going to court as scheduled. He asked the judge to dismiss the appeal on April 17. We found out it had been dismissed when we received a notice from the court.

Kohles took his 30% fee out of the \$37,000 plus expenses. He paid himself \$11,732.11, leaving us a balance of \$25,267.89.

The second settlement was initiated by Snohomish County. They wanted Michael to agree to 2nd injury relief. Because he had two claims, Snohomish County would pay for Michael's pension, but if they could close the shoulder claim, Washington State Labor and Industries would pay the pension. The settlement was based on a rating of how damaged his shoulder was and came to \$35.787.90.

It was paid in monthly installments. They were sent to Kohles office, he took his 30% and wrote us a check for the balance. When we filed bankruptcy on March 20, 2013, \$17,771.41

had been paid against the settlement. Kohles had kept \$5,331.43 and we had received \$12,439.98. At that point Kohles had been paid a total of \$17,063.54. I have since paid an additional \$1,200.

The timing of our bankruptcy had nothing to do with Kohles. Michael had just been diagnosed with esophageal cancer. I was finishing treatment for breast cancer. His cancer was the third cancer in just over four years. We had a couple creditors that we needed protection from.

Our relationship with Kohles had deteriorated since he settled the appeal against our wishes. Eberle Vivian, Labor and Industries, Snohomish County, Modern Medical and other companies wouldn't talk to us because we had representation. We found out there had been correspondence addressed to Michael, but mailed to Kohles office that we were not receiving. Kohles secretary stopped getting approvals needed to go to doctors and get prescriptions, but we couldn't do it ourselves. We had no choice but to fire Kohles and let everyone know we were no longer represented so they would talk to us and send us our mail.

The adversary proceeding Kohles made against our

bankruptcy was at a time when Michael was in the hospital for seven weeks literally fighting for every breath. We thought our bankruptcy attorney was handling it for us. I still have no idea what happened with our attorney, but I do know Kohles used the phrase "Pursuant to RCW 60.40.010(1)(d), an attorney's lien automatically arose by operation of law when Kohles began pursuing Michael Cook's claims against the County."

Again, he had nothing to do with pursuing Michael's claims and someone should have pointed that out to the court.

When Michael's time loss payments went to pension, Michael took the option that gave us a lesser monthly payment, but provided that I would continue to receive his pension when he died.

The balance of Kohles Statement of the Case is a recap of filings of briefs and court hearings from June 2014 to present.

ARGUEMENT

1. The Fee Agreement signed by Michael on January 10, 2005.

Michael was 59 years old and in perfect health when he hurt his back. He had injured his shoulder about a year earlier, had surgery on his shoulder and returned to work after missing 24 days.

When he hurt his back, he fully expected to have surgery, rehab, and return to work. He applied for his own workers' compensation payments and arranged to have surgery. Surgery was scheduled twice, and then cancelled by the insurance company. He finally had the surgery, but it was stressful fighting the insurance company. Co-workers recommended he hire an attorney because the insurance company usually doesn't hassle the employees with an attorney.

The Fee Agreement does have a fee of 15% for pension and that is why the trial court decided to enforce the lien by requiring me to pay \$100 per month.

Paragraph 2.a. of the fee agreement also says. "If time loss is paid on the claim then the fee will be thirty percent (30%) of all time loss."

Kohles never collected a dime for Michael's "time loss" because he had nothing to do with getting Michael's "time loss."

Michael's pension was a result of his "time loss," not the settlement for dropping his appeal for home care or the 2nd injury

relief. Kohles had nothing to do with Michael getting his pension. If the fee agreement can have one section that clearly does not apply to Michael's case, why force another section to conform.

2. Footnote 3 from the Court of Appeals, Division 1 unpublished opinion, dated February 28, 2016.

Footnote 3, page 4 of the Court of Appeals opinion states, "Donna has not challenged the use of an in rem proceeding for the foreclosure of an attorney's lien against the proceeds of an action, and we express no opinion on that question."

While researching the meaning of this footnote, I was directed to RCW 6.15.020.

RCW 6.15.020, Subsection 3 says in part:

"The right of a person to a pension, annuity, or retirement allowance or disability allowance, or death benefits, or any optional benefit, or any other right accrued or accruing to any citizen of the state of Washington under any employee benefit plan, and any fund created by such plan or arrangement, shall be exempt from execution, attachment garnishment, or seizure by or under any legal process whatever."

I am not sure this is what footnote 3 is referring to, but it seems that my pension is exempt from any form of attachment by Mr. Kohles.

CONCLUSION

I am willing to accept the decision handed down by the Superior Court for Snohomish County and affirmed by the Washington State Court of Appeals if there is an end to all of the appeals to higher courts.

I do not believe Mr. Kohles has any claim to my pension and I hope at least one of my Assignments of Error proves that.

I am trying to get my life to move forward since my husbands passing. It is difficult to adjust to a life alone when you have been part of a couple for 40 years. Every time I feel I am making progress, it is time to write another answer to yet another appeal or petition for review and I have to relive the last painful years of my husband's life.